Preliminary Information Memorandum

For inviting Expression of Interest for

strategic disinvestment of

HOSPITAL SERVICES CONSULTANCY CORPORATION (INDIA) LIMITED

 $\mathbf{B}\mathbf{y}$

Government of India through the Ministry of Health and Family Welfare

11 October 2017

Transaction Advisors YES Bank Limited



Disclaimer Notice

YES Bank Limited ("YES Bank") has been retained as the advisor by the Government of India ("GoI") for advising and managing the proposed strategic disinvestment of HSCC (India) Limited (hereinafter referred to as "HSCC" or "Company"), pursuant to an order F.No. 3/23/2016-DIPAM-II-B dated 24th March 2017. This Preliminary Information Memorandum (hereinafter referred to as the 'PIM') has been prepared by YES Bank for the limited purposes of providing certain information on HSCC for enabling the recipients to be appraised of such certain basic details of HSCC prior to submission of the Expression of Interest ("EoI") in respect of the Transaction (as defined hereinafter). This PIM is only for the use by entities classified by the GoI as Central Public Sector Enterprises. Unless otherwise specified, the information contained herein is as on 15th July 2017, and may be subject to material updates, revisions or amendment. Neither GoI, the Company nor YES Bank, undertake to update this PIM. YES Bank has not independently verified any of the information and data contained herein. Neither the GoI, the Company nor YES Bank (nor any of their respective affiliates, subsidiaries, advisors and agents), (i) make any representations or warranties, express or implied, as to the accuracy, or completeness of such information and data, (ii) take any responsibility for, or will accept any liability whether direct or indirect, express or implied, contractual, tortuous, statutory or otherwise, in respect of, the accuracy, completeness, authenticity, correctness and fairness of the information or for any of the opinions contained in the PIM or for any errors or omissions or for any loss/damage be it tangible or intangible, howsoever arising, from the use of this PIM and (iii) take any responsibility or accept any liability for any other written or oral communications transmitted to the recipient by or on behalf of Company or YES Bank or GoI or any of their advisors in the course of your evaluation of any transaction involving the Company. Any liability or responsibility of GoI, the Company and YES Bank and their respective advisors is, therefore, expressly disclaimed. You should conduct your own investigation and analysis of the Company in connection with the Transaction.

The GoI reserves the right to change the procedures for pursuing the Transaction. The issue of this PIM does not imply that the GoI, Company or YES Bank are bound to select an interested bidder for the Transaction and the GoI and YES Bank reserve the right to reject all or any of the Interested Bidders or their EOIs without communicating any reasons whatsoever.

The PIM may include certain estimates, projections, statements, targets and forecasts with respect to the Company/industry in which the Company operates and these are based on the various assumptions made by the management, officers or employees of the Company and/or YES Bank. Actual results may differ materially from these forward-looking statements due to various factors. You should note that past performance of the Company is not a guide for future performance of the Company. The summary financial information have been obtained from the audited annual financial statements and may differ from the actual numbers to the extent of approximations or use of rounded numbers. Unless stated otherwise the industry data has not been independently verified by YES Bank, the Company, the GoI or any of their affiliates or advisors. The data used in these sources may have been reclassified by us for the purposes of presentation. The GoI, the Company, YES Bank and their respective advisors undertake no obligation to provide the recipient with access to any additional information or to update this PIM with additional information or correct any inaccuracies herein, which may become apparent. Each potential investor must seek its own advice from professionals for any matters pertaining to or relating to the Company or the Transaction or for evaluating the Transaction including with regard to legal, financial and taxation issues.

This PIM has been prepared for information purposes only, without any regard to specific objectives, suitability, financial situations and needs of any particular person and does not constitute any recommendation and is not intended to be the basis for participating in the Transaction, and should not be

construed as an offer or invitation for sale or the solicitation of an offer to buy, purchase or subscribe to any securities, if any, mentioned herein. The materials and information contained herein are made available upon the express understanding that you will use them only for the purpose set forth above.

This PIM has been prepared by YES Bank upon information available from public sources and from the Company, believed to be reliable to assist the recipients in making their own evaluation of HSCC and does not purport to be all-inclusive or to contain all of the information that may be material to the recipients' decision to enter into the Transaction.

The distributing/taking/sending/dispatching/transmitting of this document in certain jurisdictions other than the Republic of India may be restricted or prohibited by law of such jurisdiction and persons into whose possession this document comes should inform themselves about, and observe, any such restrictions. Publication of this PIM by any entity other than YES Bank or the GoI is strictly prohibited. The recipient shall be solely liable and responsible for any dissemination, distribution, transmission or reproduction of this PIM. Any failure to comply with these restrictions may constitute a violation of the laws of any such other jurisdictions for which the recipient shall be solely liable and responsible. It is recommended that this PIM not be disseminated, distributed, transmitted or reproduced. The logos and trademarks used in this presentation are owned by the respective owners and are used for representation purpose only without any explicit permission of the owners.

This PIM is divided into chapters & sub-sections only for the purpose of reading convenience. Any partial reading of this PIM may lead to inferences, which may be at divergence with the conclusions based on the entirety of this PIM. Further, by accessing or reviewing a copy of this PIM, the recipient accepts the terms of this Notice, which forms an integral part of this PIM.

All acts, deeds and things done or caused or intended to be done, by GoI, the Company and YES Bank hereunder are based on and in reliance of your acceptance of the terms and conditions of this Disclaimer.

Table of Contents

1.	Introduction	1
1.1	Transaction background	í
2.	Information about HSCC	3
2.1	Background	
2.2	Offices of HSCC	5
2.3	Management	
2.4	Capital structure	8
2.5	SWOT Analysis	9
3.	Current status of HSCC	10
3.1	Shareholding status	10
3.2	Business status	10
3.3	Real Estate Asset Holding	
4.	Financials	13
4.1	Balance Sheet	13
4.2	Profit & Loss Account	14
5.	Industry Outlook & Impact on HSCC	15
6.	Submission of EOI	
6.1	Transaction process	18
6.2	Eligibility Criteria	19
6.3	Instructions to IBs	20
6.4	Filing Requirements	23
6.5	Disqualification	25

Annexure

Glossary

1. Introduction

1.1 Transaction background

- 1.1.1 The President of India holds 99.98% of the paid-up Equity Shares in Hospital Services Consultancy Corporation (India) Limited ("HSCC" or the "Company") through the MoHFW. The 99.98% shareholding of Government of India (GoI) is in the form of fully paid-up 2,39,964 equity shares of HSCC having a face value of Rs. 100/- each ("Equity Shares"). The remaining 54 Equity Shares are held by HSCC's directors and nominees of the President of India who are appointed by the GoI from time to time and do not hold any beneficial interest in the shares.
- 1.1.2 GoI intends to disinvest the entire equity shareholding held by the President of India through the Ministry of Health and Family Welfare and by the directors appointed by GoI from time to time in HSCC along with transfer of management control through a competitive bidding process by way of sale of Equity Shares to a similarly placed CPSE (the "**Transaction**").
- 1.1.3 The process to buyback Equity Shares with a total face value equivalent to 25% of the aggregate paid-up equity capital and free reserves in terms of Section 68 of the Companies Act 2013 has been initiated by the Company and shall be finalized during the course of the Transaction.
- 1.1.4 YES Bank Limited ('YES Bank'), has been appointed by Department of Investment and Public Asset Management ("**DIPAM**") as the advisor ('Transaction Advisor') for the Transaction.

1.1.5 Important Dates for EoI process

S.no.	Event	Date
1.	Publication of advertisement and floating of	11 October 2017
2.	First day of taking queries	11 October 2017
3.	Last day of taking query	25 October 2017
4.	Posting replies to queries as FAQ on websites	1 November 2017
5.	Last day for submission of EoI (Due Date)	8 November 2017
6.	EoI opening*	8 November 2017

^{*}EoI opening shall mark the start of the evaluation of EoI from the next business day after Due Date and does not mean the day of shortlisting of EoI

1.1.6 All communications, inquiries and requests for information should be directed to following:

Abhishek Gupta	Karandeep Singh	Rajat Rustagi
Executive Vice President YES Bank 48, Nyaya Marg, Chanakyapuri, New Delhi - 110021	Assistant Vice President YES Bank 48, Nyaya Marg, Chanakyapuri, New Delhi - 110021	Senior Manager YES Bank 48, Nyaya Marg, Chanakyapuri, New Delhi - 110021
Email: abhishek.gupta@yessecuritiesltd.in Tel: +91 11 6656 9000	Email: karandeep.singh3@yesbank.in Tel: +91 11 6656 9000	Email: rajat.rustagi@yessecuritiesltd.in Tel: +91 11 6656 9000

Clarifications: Any queries or request for clarification/additional information concerning this PIM shall be submitted to Mr. Karandeep Singh, Assistant Vice President at YES Bank, 48, Nyaya Marg, Chanakyapuri, New Delhi - 110 021, Email – karandeep.singh3@yesbank.in not later than the date mentioned in PIM, 25 October 2017. The communications shall clearly bear the following identification / title: Query: PIM – HSCC.

Note: No query to be addressed to MoHFW, HSCC and DIPAM

2. Information about HSCC

2.1 Background

• *Inception and history*

Established in 1983, HSCC is one of the few organisations in South East Asia that are principally engaged in the provision of consultancy services in health-care and other social sectors in India and abroad.

In 2002, the Company was recognized as a Mini Ratna – Category II Public Sector Undertaking. With an increase in the range of services, order book and revenue, the company has been categorized as a Mini Ratna – Category I Public Sector Undertaking with effect from 31.12.2015.

The company operates under the administrative control of the Ministry of Health and Family Welfare ("MoHFW"). HSCC has obtained projects from several ministries and other government bodies. The Company has remained debt-free and profit making since its inception.

This company is working in niche area of conceptualisation, planning, designing and engineering of highly specialised health care infrastructure like hospitals, bio safety labs and medical colleges etc. This involves minute planning of different components of hospitals like OT's, ICU's. Diagnostics centre, Blood Bank, OPD's and Labs etc. Different kind of specialised Hospital like Mother & Child, Cancer, nuero, cardiac, nursing college, pulmonary centre and digestive centre are developed by HSCC. This company has developed a high class professional skill in designing of above stated work over a period of 35 years. It has also made a few centre of BSL3 & BSL4 labs first time in India. First BSL 4 lab of India was completed by HSCC in 2012-13. The company has also completed few prestigious hospitals in neighbouring country like Nepal and Sri Lanka, which were recently inaugurated by Prime Minister of India. There is no similar company working in the field of conceptualisation, Design & Engineering and planning of specialised healthcare infrastructure in PSU's which has developed high class skill in planning, designing of mega hospitals & Laboratories. Few companies are doing PMC only for hospitals and not in Design and Engineering.

The company is an ISO 9001: 2008 certified company that certifies the quality control system at the company. The company operates primarily in Indian market and has experience of operating in Nepal, Sri Lanka, Myanmar and Mauritius. In terms of marketing arrangements, the company typically participate in seminars and conferences related to healthcare sector.

• Objectives

The company's key objectives include the following:

✓ To acquire status of a schedule B company (currently schedule C CPSE)

- ✓ To develop countrywide geographic spread and visibility
- ✓ To acquire competencies in public health and management consultancy and enhance delivery capacity in traditional areas of business
- ✓ To implement knowledge management system
- ✓ To undertake engineering and project management of other infrastructure projects

• <u>MoU with MoHFW</u>

The key mission of the company is to provide comprehensive, concept to commissioning, project planning, architectural, engineering, project management, procurement and related consulting services for development of buildings and infrastructure for healthcare and other purposes in India and overseas.

The Company enters into an MoU with MoHFW with respect to every fiscal year for performance evaluation based on key criteria including such as order book value, productivity and internal processes, human resource management, technology, quality & innovative practices, net worth, operating profit and reduction in trade receivables among other business evaluation parameters.

• <u>Business Overview</u>

The Company has been involved in providing healthcare infrastructure consultancy in India since its inception and built a wide spectrum of service offerings. Key services offered by the Company include conceptual studies & management consultancy, procurement, project management, information technology, facility design, engineering studies and logistics & installation. The majority of assignments undertaken by the Company have been focused towards hospitals.

The Company has expanded its service offerings to newer areas of engineering & maintenance of facilities, animal vaccine manufacturing facilities, pharmaceutical manufacturing facilities, training of overseas medical professionals and setting up of bio-technology R&D institutes and similar projects in international markets.

The Company has undertaken several key projects including a number of AIIMS at various locations in India, super specialty hospitals in Tier 2 and 3 cities, academic blocks and surgical blocks inside multiple key and up-gradation including both physical and IT at most major government run healthcare centres in India.

The Company receives projects from MoHFW, Ministry of External Affairs, public sector organizations as well as various State Governments through competitive bidding. The Company has also received projects from private sector firms. The Company also has experience in executing projects in foreign countries such as Nepal, Sri Lanka and Myanmar.

• Key Differentiators

✓ Leadership in hospital consulting

- Undertaken projects at important healthcare centres in India
- Debt free with high net worth from consistent profit making

✓ Limited competition in niche business category

- One of the few healthcare infrastructure consultancies in India
- Main competition from other government entities such as NBCC, EPIL, MECON and HLL Lifecare

✓ Lean workforce

- Total sanctioned posts are 279 for employees on regular pay scales
- There are 119 employees are on a fixed tenure basis as per requirements

✓ Wide geographic experience

- Undertaken projects in several cities including North Eastern cities in India
- Experience in Nepal, Sri Lanka, Myanmar and Mauritius
- Increasing focus on North East

✓ Strong Govt Backing

• Wholly owned by Government

✓ Consistent Rewards & Recognition

- Has been recognized by the government several times for achieving 'Excellent' rating as per the MoU with MoHFW
- The Company and its top management has been conferred with multiple awards recently including PSU Champions Award 2013 for Strategic Performance by "Governance now", CEO with HR Orientation by World HRD Congress 2013, Engineering Excellence Awards 2013, The Udyog Ratan Award 2014, Best SME Special Jury Award 2015, Skoch Awards 2016, etc.

✓ Healthy Balance Sheet

- Set up with only Rs. 40 lac of paid up capital; Issued bonus Equity Shares of Rs. 200 lacs
- Not availed any financial indebtedness either from the Government or other sources since inception
- Regularly paid dividend, with cumulative dividend till 31 Mar 2016 amounting to Rs. 56.81 crores
- High Net Worth of Rs. 174.22 crores as at 31st March 2016

2.2 Offices of HSCC

HSCC operates from its corporate office in Noida. The Company sets up site offices wherever its projects are ongoing. There are two project cum site offices at Raipur and Tezpur (Assam).

The address of registered office, corporate office and project cum site offices are as under:

Registered Office	Corporate Office
Class 205 (2nd Floor), East End Plaza	E-6(A), Sector-1,
Plot No.4, DDA LSC – Centre – II,	NOIDA - 201301
Vasundhara Enclave, Delhi – 110096	Uttar Pradesh

Project cum site offices				
Lokpriya Gopinath Bordoloi Regional	House No., B-19/7 Near Pani Ki			
Institute of Medical Health, Ist Floor,	Tanki, New Rajendra nagar,			
Ex-Police Line, Near Kali Mandir, P.O.	Raipur.			
Tezpur, Dist. Sonitpur (Assam),	Pin-492001			
PIN- 784001				

2.3 Management

The senior management of HSCC consists of qualified people with experience in their area of expertise.

Table – Composition of Board of Directors as of 15th July 2017

S.no	Name	Designation	Qualifications	Past Experience	
1	Mr.	Chairman &	BE (Civil)	He has been working with	
	Gyanesh	Managing Director		HSCC since 01.06.1995. Prior	
	Pandey			to his joining HSCC, Mr.	
				Pandey was working with ITI	
				Limited. He has around 35	
				years' experience in Design &	
				Engineering, Project planning	
				and Management of works.	
2	Mr. S.K.	Director (Engg.)	BE (Civil),	He is working with HSCC since	
	Jain		PGDBM	16.04.2013. Prior to his joining	
				HSCC, Shri Jain was working	
				with RITES.	
				Mr. Jain has around 36 years'	
				experience in managing projects	
				both in India and abroad	
3	Ms.	AS&FA, MoHFW	IAS	An IAS officer from 1984	
	Vijaya	 Part time official 		batch, Ms Srivastava has	
	Srivastava	Director		previously served many	
				government departments	
				including rural development	
4	Mr.	JS, MoHFW – Part	IAS	An IAS officer from batch of	
	Navdeep	time official		1999, Mr. Rinwa was	
	Rinwa	Director		previously appointed as Private	
				Secretary to Minister for State	
				for AYUSH	

Table – Composition of Senior Officers as of 15th July 2017

S.no	Name	Designation	Qualifications	Past Experience
1	Mr. Gyanesh Pandey	Chairman & Managing Director	B.E.(Civil)	He has been working with HSCC since 01.06.1995. Prior to his joining HSCC, Mr. Pandey was working with ITI Limited. He has around 35 years' experience in Design & Engineering, Project planning and Management of works.
2	Mr. S.K. Jain	Director (Engg.)	B.E.(Civil)	He is working with HSCC since 16.04.2013. Prior to his joining HSCC, Shri Jain was working with RITES. Mr. Jain has around 36 years' experience in managing projects both in India and abroad
3	Mr. S.A.Usmani	Chief General Manager	B.Tech(Civil)	He is working with HSCC since 01.02.1995. Prior to his joining HSCC, Shri Usmani had worked with Engineering Projects (I) Ltd and Delhi Development Authority. Mr. Usmani has 33 years' experience in Project management, Procurement, Vigilance etc
4	Mr. V.V.Govinda Rao	Chief General Manager (Project Group-I)	B.Tech (Civil), M.Tech (Structural)	He is working with HSCC since 01.01.2008. Prior to his joining HSCC, Shri Rao had worked with NBCC Ltd and JJ. Associates, Hyderabad
5	Mr. S.C. Garg	Chief General Manager (Project Group-II)	B.Tech (Civil), M.E (Geotechnical Engineering)	He is working with HSCC since 23.07.1990. Shri Garg has over 27 years' experience in Project Management activities and heads one of the Project Management groups
6	Mr. Saurabh Srivastava	Chief General Manager (Finance & Accounts)	ICWA, PGDBA	He is working with HSCC since 04.12.2015. Prior to joining HSCC, Shri Srivastava has worked with Engineering Projects (I) Ltd, IRCON & ITI.

		Shri Srivastava has over 27 years' experience in all aspects of Finance & Accounts including monitoring, facilitating funds and debtors management activities, MIS, statutory compliances, Audit, Taxation
		compliances, Audit, Taxation
		matters, SAP implementation etc

2.4 Capital structure

The authorised share capital of HSCC is Rs. 5.00 crores consisting of 5,00,000.00 equity shares of Rs. 100.00 each. The issued and fully paid up share capital consists of 2,40,018.00 equity shares of Rs. 100.00 each aggregating to approximately Rs. 2.40 crores as at July 15, 2017.

The process to buyback Equity Shares with a total face value equivalent to 25% of the aggregate paid-up equity capital and free reserves in terms of Section 68 of the Companies Act 2013 has been initiated by the Company and shall be finalized during the course of the Transaction.

The current shareholding pattern of HSCC is as under:

Share holde r	No. of Equity Shares held	% Shareholding
President of India	239,964.00	99.98%
Others	54.00	0.02%
Total	240,018.00	100.00%

2.5 SWOT Analysis

Strengths

- Debt free and profit making since inception
- Government backing
- Vast experience in healthcare sector
- Wide geographic reach
- Limited competition

Weaknesses

- Revenue model is based on one-time projects rather than recurring services generating constant revenue
- Inability to stem attrition

Opportunities

- Shortage of healthcare infrastructure
- Growth in government spending on healthcare
- Scope of diversification in other building engineering and maintenance services

Threats

- Increasing competition from private players as MoHFW shifting to bidding process that can attract private players
- Attrition of experienced personnel in view of private sector operations

3. Current status of HSCC

3.1 Shareholding status

All the Equity Shares are held by the President of India except 54.00 Equity Shares held by various full time and part time directors and nominees of the President of India who are appointed by the GoI from time to time and who do not hold any beneficial interest in the shares.

The process to buyback Equity Shares with a total face value equivalent to 25% of the aggregate paid-up equity capital and free reserves in terms of Section 68 of the Companies Act 2013 has been initiated by the Company and shall be finalized during the course of the Transaction.

3.2 Business status

Business Model

The Company executes projects for Design & Engineering, Project Management Consultancy assignments for master planning, conceptualization, up-gradation of Health care infrastructure including hospitals, maintenance contracts, BSL lab, housing complexes from different ministries and state governments. HSCC also receives assignments for procurement of devices and medical equipment from medical colleges and hospitals.

HSCC gets the above design and engineering and project management consultancy assignments from various ministries and clients through competitive open bidding system. The company receives consultancy fees against the work done as per the terms agreed in the contract.

HSCC does all the design and engineering, master planning work in-house and execution of work/supply of equipment agencies are appointed through open bidding for both the construction and procurement of medical devices.

In cases where HSCC makes the payments to contractors, funds received from clients are parked in separate bank account and interest is credited to client account. In some cases client directly make the payment to contractor after bills verified by HSCC. Thus interest received remains in the client's account and no interest benefit accrues to HSCC.

HSCC undertakes its projects on a fixed consultancy fees as per bidding process. The total project cost is estimated by HSCC based upon laid down norms by the Government and scope of work.

The revenue from projects is recognized as per the value of work done which includes the total value of the project including the margin charged (consultancy fee) by the Company. The interest earned on separate client account is recognized as interest income which is subsequently recognized as interest expenses as per income tax act requirement.

Healthcare expertise

The Company is one of the pioneers in engineering and consulting for healthcare infrastructure. Its experience encompasses design, engineering, project management and procurement of equipment for both small primary healthcare centres and large multispecialty hospitals including AIIMS and AYUSH hospitals that only deal in alternative medicine. The company's experience has enabled it to receive international assignments. The company is also involved in provision of maintenance services for hospitals and up-gradation of HMIS.

Extensive experience and service breadth from design, construction management to maintenance of health care infrastructure including ancillary infrastructure of academic blocks and housing enable the company to take assignments of other sectors as well.

Operational Performance

The company's revenue has been consistently growing for last 5 years. Its revenue for FY 2015-16 (on a restated basis as value of work done due to change in revenue recognition practice in 2015-16) was Rs. 1106.98 crores which was 92.26% higher than the revenue in FY 2014-15. As of 31st March 2017, the company had an order book of Rs. 7,522.40 crores (provisional figures).

The Company's net worth has increased from Rs. 89.50 crores as of 31st March 2012 to Rs. 174.22 crores as of 31st March 2016. The net worth fully covers the commitments and contingent liabilities of the company.

Employee Base

There are about 279 sanctioned posts for employees on regular pay scales. Other than regular pay scale employees, there are about 119 employees engaged on fixed tenure basis as per requirements.

3.3 Real Estate Asset Holding

The Company holds real estate assets in Noida, Kolkata and Bengaluru as detailed in the table below.

Real Estate Description	Location	Type	Size (square metre)
Corporate Office	Noida	Land & Building	1,002.00
Land in Noida	Noida	Land	2,518.13
Flat No.G-3/5, Bipasha Apartments	Kolkata	Residential	89.96
Flat No.20, Block-B1, National Games Village	Bengaluru	Residential	107.72

<<<This space has been left blank intentionally>>>

4. Financials

4.1 Balance Sheet

All figures in Rs. Lacs

Particulars	FY 2013	FY 2014	FY 2015	FY 2016
LIABILITIES				
Share Capital	240.0	240.0	240.0	240.0
Reserves & Surplus	10,347.4	11,840.7	13,692.7	17,182.3
Specific Reserve	103.5	152.5	152.5	136.6
Share holder Funds	10,690.9	12,233.2	14,085.3	17,558.9
Other Long-term Liabilities	592.4	559.0	589.3	545.3
Long-term Provisions	383.1	486.4	512.2	598.9
Non - current Liabilities	975.5	1,045.4	1,101.6	1,144.2
Trade Payables	41.8	59.3	45.0	37.8
Other Current Liabilities	3,352.6	7,157.4	5,870.8	6,088.9
Other Current Liabilities On behalf on Ministry/Client	58,233.0	92,529.8	117,935.9	168,065.6
Short-term Provisions	520.2	624.8	678.1	1,733.0
Current Liabilities	62,147.6	100,371.3	124,529.9	175,925.3
Total	73,814.0	113,650.0	139,716.7	194,628.4
	·	·	·	
ASSETS				
Tangible Assets	684.9	693.0	648.0	626.3
Intangible Assets	0.3	0.3	1.1	8.3
Fixed Assets	685.2	693.2	649.2	634.6
Deferred Tax Assets (Net)	165.3	209.7	283.9	463.8
Long-term Loans and Advances	24.0	323.4	88.6	85.9
Inventories	_	-	-	-
Trade Receivables	1,779.6	3,156.0	3,109.1	4,245.2
Cash and Bank Balance	10,550.3	13,921.0	13,371.1	15,591.4
Cash and Bank Balance On behalf of Ministry	42,319.3	72,500.5	101,249.9	124,729.4
Short-term Loans & Advances	573.3	650.1	1,735.9	2,819.2
Short-term Loans & Advances On behalf of Ministry	13,461.3	19,379.3	14,684.5	15,624.8
Other Current Assets	1,803.3	2,166.7	2,543.1	28,445.7
Other Current Assets on behalf of Ministry/Client	2,452.5	650.0	2,001.5	1,988.5
Current Assets	72,939.5	112,423.7	138,695.0	193,444.1
Total	73,814.0	113,650.0	139,716.7	194,628.4

Source: Annual reports and financial results of HSCC available on http://www.hsccltd.co.in

Note: The process to buyback Equity Shares with a total face value equivalent to 25% of the aggregate paid-up equity capital and free reserves in terms of Section 68 of the Companies Act 2013 has been initiated by the Company and shall be finalized during the course of the Transaction.

4.2 Profit & Loss Account

All figures in Rs. Lacs

Particulars	FY 2013	FY 2014	FY 2015	FY 2016
Value of Work Done	3,379.8	3,919.4	49,004.2	102,180.4
Other Income	2,455.5	2,125.7	8,572.4	8,517.6
Total Revenue	5,835.3	6,045.1	57,576.6	110,698.1
Contract Expenses	_	_	44,776.5	92,402.4
Interest Credited/Paid to Govt. Clients			6,415.2	5,944.5
Employee Benefits expense	1,577.0	1,696.9	1,847.5	2,217.0
Adminitrative & Other Expenses	479.9	523.3	698.8	1,113.9
Expenses	2,056.9	2,220.3	53,738.0	101,677.7
EBITDA	3,778.5	3,824.9	3,838.6	9,020.3
EBITDA %	65%	63%	7%	8%
Depreciation and Amortization expense	32.1	44.6	69.4	63.0
EBIT	3,746.4	3,780.2	3,769.2	8,957.4
EBIT %	64%	63%	7%	8%
Exceptional & Extraordinary Items	-	-	-	111.5
Prior Period Expenses (Net)	145.6	66.6	(25.4)	159.3
EBT	3,600.7	3,713.6	3,794.6	8,686.6
EBT %	62%	61%	7%	8%
Current Tax	1,368.7	1,360.0	1,410.0	3,404.9
Deferred Tax	(25.1)	(44.4)	(69.5)	(179.8)
Total Tax Expense	1,343.6	1,315.6	1,340.5	3,225.0
EAT	2,257.1	2,398.0	2,454.0	5,461.5
EAT %	39%	40%	4%	5%

Source: Annual reports and financial results of HSCC available on http://www.hsccltd.co.in

Notes: Revenue Recognition policy was changed in FY 2015-16 and value of work done was recognized as revenue for FY 2016 and therefore revenue for FY 2015 was restated accordingly. However, this change in policy did not affect profit.

5. Industry Outlook & Impact on HSCC

According to India Brand Equity Foundation (IBEF), the government has targeted an investment of Rs. 25 lac crores in infrastructure sector over a period of three years, which will include Rs. 8 lac crores for developing 27 industrial clusters and an additional Rs. 5 lac crores for road, railway and port connectivity projects. According to IBEF publications, the Indian real estate market is expected to touch US\$ 180 billion by 2020, representing a compounded annual growth rate (CAGR) of 11.2% in the period FY 2008-2020.

Indian healthcare delivery system is categorised into two major components - public and private. The public healthcare system comprises limited secondary and tertiary care institutions in key cities and focuses on providing basic healthcare facilities in the form of primary healthcare centres (PHCs) in rural areas. The private sector provides majority of secondary, tertiary and quaternary care institutions with a major concentration in metros, tier I and tier II cities.

According to IBEF report on healthcare industry in India, the healthcare expenditure stood at Rs. 7.40 lac crores in 2016. About 65.00% of it was accounted by healthcare delivery which includes hospitals, nursing homes, diagnostic centres and pharmaceuticals. The sector is expected to grow at 26.30% per annum to Rs. 18.70 lac crores by 2020 as opposed to the growth of 11.80% between 2008 and 2016.

Healthcare infrastructure shall contribute sizeably to the growth with increasing public spending reflected in the budget 2017-18 which allocated Rs. 48,878.00 crores (~2.30% of budget) from Rs. 39,879.00 crores (~2.00% of budget), representing y-o-y growth of 22.00%. The government is also implementing a universal health plan to that aims to increase healthcare coverage across the country; this plan envisages an investment of Rs. 1.60 lac crores over next 4.00 years.

In 2015, India had 3,601.00 Ayurveda, Yoga and Naturopathy, Unani, Siddha and Homoeopathy (AYUSH) Hospitals, 1,56,926.00 sub-centres and 1,96,312.00 hospitals and nursing homes. There were 215.00 private medical colleges and 189.00 government medical colleges. At these levels, India's healthcare infrastructure stood at 1.00 hospital bed per 1,000.00 individuals as compared with the global median at 2.90 hospital beds per 1,000.00 individuals. According to the IBEF report, there is an opportunity to add 1.80 million hospital beds by 2025 and scope to add 1.54 million doctors and 2.40 million nurses.

This expected growth in physical healthcare infrastructure along with the investment in digital infrastructure through both private and public enterprises shall propel the demand for services by engineering firms engaged in provision of construction services for healthcare infrastructure among other infrastructure.

Key Industry Characteristics

- Major Employment Generator According to IBEF, real estate market in India is the second largest employer after agriculture. It is ranked 3rd among the 14 major sectors in terms of direct, indirect and induced impacts in the overall economy.
- Fragmented Industry Structure The industry has lower entry barriers and limited capital requirement to set up an EPC or PMC company, enabling several small companies to start business by hiring talented engineers required to carry-out business activities. The industry is

constituted by both private and government players with government entities largely set up to cater to infrastructural requirements of the country.

- Low working capital requirements PMC industry requires negligible working capital financing as the advance is received for execution of construction contract from the party awarding the contract while payments are released to EPC companies for construction on achieving milestones.
- High intensity of competition Due to presence of several small companies which house talented pool of engineers, there is high intensity of competition. However, as bidding remains the most preferred way of choosing a contractor, competition can be limited by way of putting minimum qualifying criteria, while inviting bids, in the form of financial health of the company, years of experience, order book size, sector experience, etc.
 Further, in case of government agencies awarding work, large contracts are often awarded via nomination to government owned PMC and EPC companies.
- Susceptible to external environment The completion of a project is often subjected to receiving multiple approvals from several central and state regulatory bodies such as pollution boards, airport authority, ministry of environment, ministry of forest, etc. Receiving such approvals in a timely manner can be a hurdle for most projects. Further, land acquisition also poses a problem at times due to unfair compensation offered to the land owners that can lead to stalling the project after it has started from the protesting land owners and activists.

Key Future Growth Drivers of Industry that Impact HSCC

As HSCC's corporate objectives include both healthcare infrastructure and diversification into other sectors, it is likely to benefit from the current industry developments and government initiatives that target to address the low capacity of healthcare infrastructure, housing shortage and upgrading of cities under specific missions of the central government.

- Government's focus on healthcare In 2017-18 budget, the government increased the allocation to healthcare which in absolute terms represents a y-o-y increase of 22%. The government is likely to increase its focus on healthcare going forward.
- Pradhan Mantri Awas Yojana (PMAY) Housing for All by 2022 Launched on 25th June 2015, PMAY anticipates construction of 2.00 crores housing units till 2022 in the economically weaker section (EWS) and low-income group (LIG) segments. The RBI is assisting this mission by offering interest rate subvention of housing loans for such housing units. The scheme is proposed to be implemented in three phases:
 - Phase 1 April 2015 to March 2017 to cover 100.00 cities selected from states/urban territories
 - Phase 2 April 2017 to March 2019, to cover additional 200.00 cities
 - Phase 3 April 2019 to March 2022, to cover all other remaining cities
- Smart Cities Mission In June 2015, Ministry of Urban Development laid down the guidelines for formulation, approval and execution of projects under the Smart City Mission which will cover

100.00 cities by 2019-20. According to IBEF, investments worth Rs. 50,802 crores were projected over five years with Public Private Partnership (PPP) being a major vehicle of resource mobilisation.

6. Submission of EOI

Any interested bidder ("Interested Bidder" or "IB"), participating in the transaction has to submit an EoI. Details regarding the Transaction process, list of important documents to be submitted along with the EoI, eligibility criteria for the IB, disqualification of the IB and other general instructions have been shared in the following sections.

6.1 Transaction process

- 6.1.1 An advertisement has been issued in the newspapers inviting IBs to submit their EoI to participate in the Transaction. A copy of the advertisement is enclosed as Annexure I.
- 6.1.2 The process for the Transaction has been divided into two stages, namely, Stage I and Stage II, as follows.
- 6.1.3 Stage I:
- 6.1.3.1 Through this PIM, the GoI is providing the IB with instructions for submitting its EoI, which would be used for prequalifying the IB in accordance with the criteria specified to proceed with the Transaction.
- 6.1.3.2 Following receipt of PIM, IB will be required to respond with the EOI as per the format in Annexure II along with documents along with a non-refundable fee of Rs. 1,00,000 (Rupees one lac). It may please be noted that this fee will not be refunded even in case the Transaction is called-off by the GoI.
- 6.1.3.3 The EOI will be evaluated based on the Eligibility Criteria and Disqualification conditions detailed in this PIM.
- 6.1.4 Stage II:
- 6.1.4.1 Based on the evaluation of the EOIs submitted in Stage I, the shortlisted IB will be provided with Request for Proposal ("**RFP**") and a Confidential Information Memorandum ("**CIM**"), which shall provide further details of the Company and the Transaction subject to the IB entering into a Confidentiality Undertaking as enclosed in Annexure III.
- 6.1.4.2 The shortlisted IB proceeding to Stage II will be given access to the data room to review documents pertaining to the Company for conducting due diligence on the Company, subject to the IB entering into a Confidentiality Undertaking in terms of the RFP.
- 6.1.4.3 The format and formalities related to the RFP will be communicated in due-course.
- 6.1.5 This PIM along with annexures will be available on the following websites:
 - www.yesbank.in
 - http://dipam.gov.in/
 - www.hsccltd.co.in
 - http://mohfw.nic.in/

- 6.1.6 The Transaction will be subject to applicable statutory and regulatory restrictions and approval requirements.
- 6.1.7 This PIM does not constitute any commitment on the part of GoI or any of their respective officers, employees, advisors or agents, whether in respect of the disinvestment process or otherwise. This PIM and invitation for submission of EOIs neither confers any right nor expectation to any other subsequent additions and modifications thereof.
- 6.1.8 GoI reserves the right to withdraw from the Transaction or to accept or reject any or all EoIs or financial bids at any stage of the Transaction and/or modify the process or any part thereof or to vary any terms at any time without assigning any reason whatsoever. In such an event no financial obligation whatsoever shall accrue to GoI or any of its respective officers, employees, advisors or agents.
- 6.1.9 A site visit may be scheduled to facilitate the shortlisted IB in its assessment of the Company at the discretion of the GoI. The modalities related to the site visit and due diligence will be communicated to the shortlisted IB in due course.
- 6.1.10 The shortlisted IB shall carry out its own due diligence, independent assessment and appraisal of the Company and the Transaction. The GoI or its respective consultants, agents, officials, advisors and employees make no representations, and in relation thereto shall not be liable in any manner whatsoever.
- 6.1.11 EoI is liable to be rejected by GoI/Transaction Advisor if IB fails to meet the eligibility criteria as specified in section titled 'Eligibility Criteria' and/or is disqualified in accordance with the conditions specified in section titled 'Disqualifications' in this PIM.

6.2 Eligibility Criteria

Eligibility Criteria for the Interested Bidder to move to Stage II shall be the following:

6.2.1 Ownership

As on March 31, 2017, an IB must be a Central Public Sector Enterprise (CPSE) as classified by Department of Public Enterprises (DPE), Ministry of Heavy Industries & Public Enterprises, Government of India. CPSE, as defined by DPE, is any government company in which more than 50% equity is held by the Central Government. The subsidiaries of these companies in which any CPSE has more than 50% equity are also categorized as CPSE, if registered in India.*

* Definition as per Public Enterprises Survey 2015-16 Chapter 1 Performance Overview (Page 1) http://dpe.gov.in/sites/default/files/PES_Annual_Report_English.pdf

(IB to provide an undertaking as per Annexure IV)

6.2.2 Financial Capability

For purpose of evaluation of EoI under this criterion, audited consolidated financial statements as on March 31, 2017 shall be considered. In the event the Interested Bidder does not have audited

financial statements as on March 31, 2017, provisional financial account for the Interested Bidder as certified by its statutory auditor/Board of Director may be considered.

6.2.2.1 IB must have net worth, on a consolidated basis, of not less than Rs. 300 crores (Rupees Three Hundred Crores) as per the audited financial statements ending 31st March 2017. The definition of Net Worth is as follows and is as per Clause 57 of Section 2, Companies Act, 2013:

Net Worth = aggregate value of the paid-up share capital + all reserves* created out of the profits and securities premium account – aggregate value of the accumulated losses, deferred expenditure and miscellaneous expenditure not written off

(IB to provide details as per Annexure V)

*Reserves created out of revaluation of assets, write-back of depreciation and amalgamation are not to be included

6.2.2.2 IB must have reported a positive Profit After Tax (PAT) (as per consolidated profit and loss account) in at least 3 of the preceding 5 audited financial statements (FY 2013, FY 2014, FY 2015, FY 2016 and FY 2017).
(IB to provide details as per Annexure VI)

6.3 Instructions to IBs

- 6.3.1 Each IB will submit duly filled EoI as per the format in Annexure II.
- 6.3.2 Each IB must provide with the EoI a Confidentiality Undertaking as per the format in Annexure III.
- 6.3.3 Each IB must provide the information sought in Section 6.2: Eligibility Criteria. Such information must be provided as per the prescribed format in Annexure IV, Annexure V and Annexure VI.
- 6.3.4 Each IB must provide with the EoI a Power of Attorney (as per the format in Annexure VII).
- 6.3.5 Each IB must provide with the EoI a Statement of Legal Capacity as per the format in Annexure VIII, duly executed by its authorized official/ representative that it has the requisite corporate authorization to submit the EoI and that all information provided in the EoI is complete and accurate in all material respects to the best of their knowledge.
- 6.3.6 Each IB must provide with the EoI, completely filled Form A (as per the format in Annexure IX) along with the other requisite information as detailed below.
 - Memorandum and Articles of Association or other Constitution Documents; and
 - A certificate duly signed by the company Secretary/any other officer in charge of legal affairs stating that the IB is eligible to participate in the proposed Transaction as per its Memorandum and Articles of Association (or any Constitution Document): and

- Audited consolidated financial statements and annual reports for the last three financial years; and
- Certificate from a chartered accountant/ statutory auditor certifying the Net Worth as per the format in Annexure V; and
- Details of shareholding pattern with summary certification of the shareholding as per the format in Annexure IV; and
- A brief profile write up of the IB containing details related to IB's:
 - o Business history and growth; and
 - o Business Areas and Activities; and
 - Brief commentary on the capability of the IB as demonstrated, inter alia, in its past track record to run its own business.
- List of board of directors and senior management along with the organization structure and a brief summary certified by the company secretary/any other official in charge of legal affairs; and
- A brief summary of the roles and responsibilities of the directors and key management personnel duly certified by the company secretary/any other official in charge of legal affairs; and
- The names and addresses of the companies and professional firms, if any, who are (or will be) advising the IB, together with the names of the principal individual advisors at those companies and firms; and
- Brief write up of the IB's international operations, joint ventures / alliances (whether
 international or domestic), nature and size of such operations, equity ownership, if
 applicable, copies of the audited accounts for the last one year of such companies; and
- Details of all outstanding litigations; and
- Details of all contingent liabilities that, if materialised, that have or would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the business, operations (or results of operations), assets, liabilities and/or financial condition of the Interested Bidder, or other similar business combination or sale; and
- Commencement certificate; and
- Date and place of incorporation, registered office address, head office address; and

- Name, designation, phone number, mobile number, facsimile number, and e-mail address of the persons who are the principal points of contact.
- 6.3.7 Each IB must provide with the EoI a Declaration as per the format in Annexure X.
- 6.3.8 All costs associated with the preparation and submission of the EoI, due diligence, site visits (if any) will be borne by the respective IB. The Transaction Advisor/GoI shall not, under any circumstances be responsible or liable for any such costs, whether direct, incidental or consequential.
- 6.3.9 The GoI/Transaction Advisor reserves the right to call for any additional document/information from the IB, which may be considered necessary without any liability to the Company/GoI.
- 6.3.10 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this PIM, the detailed terms specified in the definitive agreements (Share Purchase Agreements) shall have overriding effect; provided, however, that any conditions or obligations imposed on the IB hereunder shall continue to have effect in addition to its obligations under the definitive agreements.
- 6.3.11 **Enquiry**: Transaction Advisor reserves the right, in its sole discretion, not to respond to any questions raised or provide clarifications sought. Nothing in this section shall be taken or read as compelling or requiring the Transaction Advisor to respond to any question or provide any clarification. No extension of any time and date referred to in this PIM shall be granted on the basis or grounds that the Transaction Advisor has not responded to any question or provided any clarification.
- 6.3.12 **Governing Law / Jurisdiction**: The Transaction and all matters incidental thereto shall be governed by the laws of India. All disputes arising out of the Transaction shall be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts at New Delhi.
- 6.3.13 Any withdrawal of the EoI by IB or any substitution in the EoI by IB or additional information supplied by IB, unless the same has been expressly sought for by GoI/Transaction Advisor, shall be disregarded.
- 6.3.14 The IB shall be expected to provide certificates, undertakings, bank guarantees, or such similar documents for such amounts and on such terms and conditions prior to submission of the financial bid in Stage II as may be informed by the GoI.
- 6.3.15 The IB shall be required to deposit an earnest money at Stage II, if so required by GoI. The draft of the earnest money guarantee agreement, if any, shall be provided to the IB at the time of providing all other draft documents before submission of financial bid in Stage II, if required by the GoI.
- 6.3.16 The GoI/Transaction Advisor reserves the right to verify all statements, information and documents submitted by the IB in response to the PIM, or the EoI process and the IB shall, when so required by the GoI/Transaction Advisor, make available all such information, evidence and documents as

may be necessary for such verification. Any such verification or lack of such verification, by the GoI or its advisors shall not relieve the IB of its obligations or liabilities hereunder nor will it affect any rights of the GoI thereunder.

- 6.3.17 The GoI reserves the right to seek any additional indemnities, warranties, representations or performance obligations to it satisfaction from the IB or any of its related entities.
- 6.3.18 The IB shall continue to meet with the eligibility criteria and shall also not be disqualified as per conditions mentioned in this PIM at all times until the consummation of the Transaction.
- 6.3.19 Amendment to PIM: At any time prior to the Due Date of EoI, GoI may, for any reason, whether at its own initiative or in response to clarifications requested by any IB, modify the PIM by the issuance of addendum.
- 6.3.20 The IB shall be responsible for obtaining all the applicable approvals to complete the Transaction within a specified time limit. For the purpose of this Transaction, the IB shall ascertain the applicability and implications of all laws pertaining to the Transaction and shall ensure compliance with all the applicable laws.

6.4 **Filing Requirements**

- 6.4.1 IB shall ensure that the EoI is complete as to requirements of the specified documents/information as instructed in this PIM.
- 6.4.2 The EoI must be signed by a duly authorized representative of the interested party. The IB shall also be required to submit a Power of Attorney (Annexure VII) authorizing the signatory of the EoI to commit the IB.
- 6.4.3 The signed EoI as per the format in Annexure II along with all its annexure and supporting documents as detailed in the table below must be submitted in physical form only not later than the Due Date in two envelopes at the following addresses:

Mr. Karandeep Singh, Assistant Vice President YES Bank 48, Nyaya Marg, Chanakyapuri,

New Delhi - 110 021

Envelope 1

- Expression of interest (Annexure II)
- Confidentiality Undertaking (Annexure III)
- CPSE Declaration and Shareholding Certificate (Annexure IV)
- CPSE Declaration of Net Worth (Annexure V)

	CPSE Declaration of Profitability (Annexure VI)
	Executed POA (Annexure VII)
	Statement of Legal Capacity (Annexure VIII)
	Form A (Annexure IX)
	Declaration (Annexure X)
	• Demand draft of non-refundable fee amounting to Rs. 1,00,000 in favor of
	YES Bank – HSCC
Envelope 2	Additional documents and details such as
	Annual reports (previous 3 financial years)
	Memorandum of association
	Articles of association
	• Share holding pattern, certificate stating the eligibility to participate in the
	proposed Strategic Sale, nature of business and information of operations,
	list of board of directors and senior management, write up on international
	operations, joint ventures / alliances and copies of the audited consolidated
	accounts, list of advisors, details of all outstanding litigations, details of all
	contingent liabilities, and supporting documents for date and place of
	incorporation, date of Commencement of Certificate, full address of
	registered office and head office as part of Request for Qualification
	(Annexure IX)

- 6.4.4 The covering envelope containing the above mentioned envelope 1 and envelope 2 must be clearly marked "Private and Confidential Expression of Interest for the strategic disinvestment of HSCC (India) Limited".
- 6.4.5 IB shall be entitled to submit only one EoI. In case, more than one EoI is submitted by an IB, all such EoIs shall be rejected.
- 6.4.6 The EoI received shall be valid for 180 days from the date of opening of the EoI.
- 6.4.7 Any submission whether in part or full via email or facsimile will not be permitted. Any document received after the Due Date, unless the same is expressly sought, will be disregarded. Any submission made shall be rejected if it is not made as per the instructions mentioned in this PIM.
- 6.4.8 Unless otherwise specified, a self-certified true copy by IB's authorized signatory of the supporting documents shall be submitted.
- 6.4.9 The documents including this PIM and all attached documents are and shall remain or become the properties of the GoI and are transmitted to the IB solely for the purpose of preparation and the submission of EoI in accordance herewith. IB is to treat all information as strictly confidential and shall not use it for any purpose other than for preparation and submission of its EoI.
- 6.4.10 Transaction Advisor/GoI shall bear no responsibility for non-receipt of documents sent by post/courier.

6.5 Disqualification

- 6.5.1 An EoI that is found to be incomplete in content and/or attachments and/or legal capacity/authenticity shall be rejected.
- 6.5.2 Without prejudice to any other rights or remedies available to GoI, the GoI / Transaction Advisor reserve the right to reject the EoI and disqualify any IB for any of the following reasons (including but not limited to those listed below):
- 6.5.2.1 Misrepresentation/false statement is made by the IB, at any stage in the bidding process, whether in the EoI, the financial bid, supporting documentation or otherwise and whether written or oral; or
- 6.5.2.2 If the EoI submitted by the IB is in any respect inconsistent with, or demonstrates any failure to comply with, the provisions of the PIM; or
- 6.5.2.3 Failure on the part of the parties interested to provide necessary and sufficient information required to be provided in accordance with the EoI; or
- 6.5.2.4 Submission of more than one (1) EoI by any IB in which case, all such EoIs shall be rejected; or
- 6.5.2.5 The IB not satisfying the eligibility criteria specified in this PIM; or
- 6.5.2.6 Failure to comply with any reasonable request, of GoI / Transaction Advisor in relation to the Transaction; or
- 6.5.2.7 If it is discovered at any time that the IB is subjected to any winding up/insolvency proceedings or other proceedings of a similar nature; or
- 6.5.2.8 Any information regarding or in connection with the IB which becomes known that is detrimental to the national security and/or public interest and/or national interest and/or Transaction and/or the interests of the GoI/ Company; or
- 6.5.2.9 Initiation or existence of any legal proceedings, by or against the IB in respect of the Company, which proceeding may be prejudiced by the participation of the IB in the selection process or the Transaction; or
- 6.5.2.10Non fulfilment of any condition by the IB as specified in the PIM; or
- 6.5.2.11Breach of Confidentiality Undertaking executed by the IB; or
- 6.5.2.12Any condition or qualification or any other stipulation inserted by the IB contained in the EoI shall render the EoI liable to rejection; or
- 6.5.2.13Any IB who does not satisfy the requirements of eligibility or is disqualified under the Eligibility Guidelines. The GoI has issued guidelines for disqualification of bidders seeking to acquire any public sector enterprises through the process of disinvestment vide Department of Disinvestment

OM No.6/4/2001 – DD-II dated 13th July 2001 and clarification issued on 10th January 2002 ("Eligibility Guidelines"). These guidelines as modified from time to time shall apply. A copy of the Eligibility Guidelines is enclosed as Annexure XI.; or

- 6.5.2.14If the IB does not satisfy any of the requirements as may be issued by the GoI by way of notifications / issue of guidelines / circulars or such similar notifications from time to time including any conditions of disqualifications, the EoI submitted by such IB shall be disqualified.
- 6.5.3 Notwithstanding anything contained in this PIM, the GoI reserves the right to reject all the EoIs and to annul the EoI process at any time without any liability or any obligation for such acceptance, rejection or annulment, and without assigning any reasons thereof. In the event that the GoI rejects or annuls all the EoIs, it may, in its discretion, invite all eligible IBs to submit fresh EoI hereunder.
- 6.5.4 GoI's determination that one or more of the events specified in this section titled "Disqualification" has occurred shall be final and conclusive.

Annexure I

INVITATION FOR EXPRESSION OF INTEREST BY THE GOVERNMENT OF INDIA FOR STRATEGIC DISINVESTMENT IN HSCC (INDIA) LIMITED BY WAY OF ACQUISITION BY A SIMILARLY PLACED CPSE

(This announcement is neither a prospectus nor an offer/invitation to the public for sale of shares, securities or debentures to the public.)

HSCC (India) Limited ("HSCC" or the "Company") is a public sector undertaking, under the administrative control of the Ministry of Health and Family Welfare. The Company was incorporated on March 30, 1983 and is primarily engaged in the field of project management consultancy services for construction of hospitals.

The Government of India (GoI) has 'in-principle' decided to disinvest 100.00% equity shareholding in HSCC along with transfer of management control through a competitive bidding process by way of acquisition by a similarly placed CPSE through sale of Equity Shares. The GoI, through the Department of Investment & Public Asset Management has appointed YES Bank Limited ("YES Bank") as its Transaction Advisor to advise and manage the Strategic Disinvestment of HSCC ("Transaction").

This disinvestment process is to be implemented through physical open competitive bidding route. Accordingly, Expression of Interest (EoI) is invited through this advertisement from Interested Bidders that are CPSEs. The details of EoI can be downloaded from www.yesbank.in, http://dipam.gov.in/, www.hsccltd.co.in and http://mohfw.nic.in/. In future, any amendments/ extension of due date for submission of EoI will be uploaded on the above websites only.

Interested Bidders are requested to submit their EOI along with the documents in the prescribed format specified in the Preliminary Information Memorandum (PIM) at the under-mentioned address, not later than 1500 hours (IST) on 8 November 2017. Further any queries or request for clarification/additional information concerning the PIM shall be submitted to the under-mentioned address. The communications shall clearly bear the following identification / title: Query: PIM – HSCC.

Mr. Karandeep Singh,
YES Bank Limited, 48, Nyaya Marg, Chanakyapuri, New Delhi - 110 021
Email: karandeep.singh3@yesbank.in
Tel: +91 11 6656 9000

This advertisement does not constitute, and will not be deemed to constitute, any commitment on the part of HSCC or GoI or YES Bank; it has been provided only by way of information on HSCC. Furthermore, this advertisement confers neither any right nor any expectation on any party to participate in the proposed disinvestment. GoI or YES Bank reserves the right to withdraw from the process or any part thereof, to accept or reject any or all EoIs or financial bids at any stage of the process and/or modify the process or any part thereof or to vary terms at any time without assigning any reason whatsoever. No financial obligation will accrue to GoI or YES Bank in such an event. Further, HSCC or GoI or YES Bank shall not be responsible for non-receipt of correspondence sent by post/courier/e-mail/fax.

Annexure II

Expression of Interest (To be printed on the letterhead of the interested party submitting the EoI)

	Date:
Ref: [x] To,	
Mr. Karandeep Singh, Assistant Vice President YES Bank 48, Nyaya Marg, Chanakyapuri, New Delhi - 110 021	
Sub: INVITATION OF EXPRESSION OF INTEREST FOR STRATEGIC DISIN 100% SHAREHOLDING OF GoI IN HOSPITAL SERVICES CONSULTANCY O (INDIA) LIMITED ("HSCC") THROUGH SALE OF EQUITY SHARES TO A PLACED CPSE	CORPORATION
Sir,	
This is with reference to the advertisement dated 11 October 2017 ("Advertisement") in of Interest ("EoI") for the strategic disinvestment of such number of Equity Shares represent HSCC, a company registered under the Companies Act, 1956 having its registered of (2nd Floor, East End Plaza, Plot no. 4, DDA, LSC-Centre-II, Vasundhara Enclave, Delhi-Disinvestment").	enting 100% stake office at Class 205
Being duly authorized to represent and act on behalf of (hereinafter "Interested Bidder"), and having reviewed and fully understood all of the qualification information provided, the undersigned hereby expresses the Interested Bidder's interest for Strategic Disinvestment.	requirements and
We have read and understood the contents of the Advertisement and the Prelimi Memorandum ("PIM") and are desirous of participating in the Strategic Disinvestment follows:	
1. We are interested in bidding for the Strategic Disinvestment of such number representing hundred (100%) of the equity share capital of HSCC.	of Equity Shares

2. We satisfy the eligibility criteria detailed in the Advertisement and the PIM.

3. We confirm and represent that we have the requisite corporate authorisation to submit the EOI.

- 4. We certify that in regard to matters other than security and integrity of the country, we have not been convicted by any court of law or indicted or adverse orders passed by any regulatory authority which relates to a grave offence that outrages the moral sense of the community.
- 5. We further certify that in regard to matters relating to security and integrity of the country, we have not been charge-sheeted by any agency of the Government or convicted by any court of law for any offence committed by us or by any of our sister concerns.
- 6. We further certify that no investigation by a regulatory authority is pending either against us or against our group concerns or against any of our directors or key managerial personnel.
- 7. We confirm and represent that the EoI is complete and accurate in all respects and requisite authorization has been obtained for the submission of the EoI.
- 8. In the event we are attracted by any of the disqualifications in terms of the PIM during the pendency of the process of Strategic Disinvestment, owing to change in facts or circumstances, we undertake to immediately intimate the Transaction Advisor and the Nodal Agency.
- 9. The declaration in respect of pending litigation as per format given in Annexure X duly signed by us is enclosed.
- 10. The Statement of Legal Capacity and Request For Qualification as per formats given in Annexure VIII and Annexure IX respectively of PIM, duly signed by us are enclosed.

We further understand that the information and data received by us for this transaction is confidential and shall not be divulged or disclosed or reproduced or disseminated, in whole or part, to any person or entity except to our directors, officers, employees and professional advisers who need to know the information for the purpose of evaluating the transaction. We shall use the confidential information only for the purpose of the proposed Transaction.

Our PAN number is
Our TAN number is
Thank you.
Yours sincerely,
Yours faithfully,
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
Authorised Signatory
ę ;
For and on behalf of the Interested Bidder
NI CAD FI
Name of the Person: [●]
Designation: [●]

Enclosed:

- 1. Confidentiality Undertaking (Annexure III)
- POA (Annexure VII)
 Statement of Legal Capacity (Annexure VIII)
 Request For Qualification (Annexure IX)
- 5. Declaration (Annexure X)
- 6. Demand Draft

Annexure III

Confidentiality Undertaking

[ON RS. [1,000] STAMP PAPER]

IN FAVOUR OF:

The President of India, represented by and acting through the Ministry of Health and Family Welfare at, A Wing, Nirman Bhawan, Maulana Azad Road, New Delhi - 110 011 (the "Administrative Ministry");

Hospital Services Consultancy Corporation (India) Limited, a company incorporated under the Companies Act, 1956 bearing corporate identification number U74140DL1983GoI015459 and having its registered office at Class 205 (2nd Floor, East End Plaza, Plot no. 4, DDA, LSC-Centre-II, Vasundhara Enclave, Delhi-10096 (the "Company"); and

The Entities whose names and particulars listed in Schedule 1 (hereinafter referred to as "Advisors")

WHEREAS:

A. The Interested Bidder has submitted an expression of interest for participation in the proposed sale by Government of India ("GoI" / "Government") of 100 percent of the equity shares of the Company held by the GoI (the "Transaction") and has been shortlisted as a "Qualified Interested Party"; and

B. In the context of the Interested Bidder's interest in the Transaction, the Disclosing Party (as defined hereinafter) may disclose Confidential Information (as defined hereinafter) to the Receiving Party (as defined hereinafter) to enable the Interested Bidder to evaluate the Transaction.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration for receiving the Confidential Information, the Interested Bidder hereby executes this Undertaking and undertakes, represents, warrants, covenants and agrees to the terms and conditions contained herein:

1. In this Undertaking (including the recitals);

"**Advisors**" means, collectively, [Yes Bank Limited, Adroit Technical Services Pvt Ltd and M/s. Crawford Bayley & Co].

"Confidential Information" means and includes any and all facts, knowledge, information, documents and materials whether written or otherwise, concerning the business, operations, prospects, finances, or other affairs of the Company, its affiliates, associates or subsidiaries (which includes, without limitation, documents delivered in connection with due diligence, investigation, information relating to the existing business of the Company and new businesses (if any) proposed to be undertaken by the Company, market and company-specific data, agreements related to its business including knowhow and technology agreements, agreements relating to licence to use intellectual property rights, graphs, drawing, past, current, and planned research and development, current and planned marketing or distribution methods and processes, customer lists, current and anticipated customer requirements, price lists and other end-user pricing related information, market studies, computer software and programs, database technologies, systems, structures and architectures, historical financial statements, activities, products, specifications, data, know- how, compositions, designs, sketches, photographs, business plans, financial projections and budgets, historical and projected sales, capital spending budgets and plans, current or prospective financing sources, the names and backgrounds of personnel, personnel training techniques and materials, reports relating to the Company's operations prepared by external consultants which are proprietary to the Company or the GoI or the Administrative Ministry), and any information memorandum /or draft /final offer document, request for proposal, drafts of shareholders and share purchase agreements or other materials prepared in connection with the Transaction, howsoever documented, that has been or may hereafter be provided or shown to the Receiving Party by the Disclosing Party or is otherwise obtained from review of the Disclosing Party's documents or property or discussions with the Disclosing Party by the Receiving Party irrespective of the form of the communication, and also includes all notes, analyses, compilations, studies, summaries, and other material prepared by the Receiving Party containing or based, in whole or in part, on any information included in the foregoing.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the following information will not constitute "Confidential Information" for purposes of this Undertaking:

- (a) Information which the Interested Bidder can prove was already in the possession of the Receiving Party and was available to the Receiving Party on a non-confidential basis prior to its disclosure to the Receiving Party by the Disclosing Party;
- (b) Information which is obtained by the Receiving Party from a third Person who, insofar as is known to the Receiving Party, is not prohibited from disclosing the information to the Receiving party under a contractual, legal or fiduciary obligation to the Disclosing Party; and
- (c) Information which is or becomes generally available to the public otherwise than as a result of a breach of this Undertaking by the Receiving Party.

The decision of the Government and/or the Company on whether any information qualifies within the exceptions in (a), (b) and (c) above shall be final, conclusive and binding.

"Disclosing Party" means the Advisors, the Company, the Administrative Ministry, the GoI, other Governmental Authority and/or their respective Representatives, whether jointly or severally.

"Governmental Authority" means any governmental or regulatory authority, government ministry or department in India or other rule or regulation making entity having jurisdiction or acting on behalf of the Republic of India or any political subdivision thereof.

"Receiving Party" means the Interested Bidder and/or their respective Representatives, whether jointly or severally.

"Representative(s)" of any Person includes the directors, officers, employees, agents, consultants, advisors, lenders for financing of this Transaction or other representatives, including legal counsel, accountants and financial advisors of such Person and also includes the Representatives of the Representatives of any Person.

"**Person**" means any individual, company (including the Company and the Advisors), firm, association, trust, or any other organization or entity (including the Government and any governmental or political subdivision).

- 2. The Confidential Information disclosed by the Disclosing Party to the Receiving Party, or acquired by the Receiving Party in the course of any studies conducted by the Receiving Party, will be received and treated by the Receiving Party as strictly confidential, subject to its obligations contained herein, and the Receiving Party shall not, without the Company's as well as the Government's prior written consent or as expressly permitted herein, directly or indirectly disclose to any other Person, or use or allow others to disclose or use, the Confidential Information.
- 3. The Receiving Party will use the Confidential Information only to evaluate the Transaction and to decide whether or not the Interested Bidder wishes to proceed with the Transaction and not for any purpose other than the Transaction and the Receiving Party will not directly or indirectly use

the Confidential Information for any other purpose or in any way detrimental to the Disclosing Party.

4. In consideration of the Disclosing Party providing the Receiving Party with Confidential Information, by the Interested Bidder's execution of this Undertaking, the Interested Bidder, for itself and on behalf of all other Receiving Party, agrees that all of the Confidential Information shall be held and treated by the Receiving Party in strict confidence. The Bidder agrees (a) to disclose Confidential Information only to those of its Representatives who need to know the Confidential Information for the purposes of an evaluation of the Transaction and each Representative of the Interested Bidder will be informed and advised in writing by the Interested Bidder of the confidential nature of such information and the contents of and the obligations under this Undertaking and (b) to satisfy itself that each such Representative of the Interested Bidder will hold and treat the Confidential Information in confidence and act in accordance therewith. The Interested Bidder agrees that the Confidential Information shall not, without the Company's as well as the Government's prior written consent, be disclosed by the Interested Bidder and/or Representative of the Interested Bidder, in any manner whatsoever, in whole or in part, to any third Person, and shall not be used by the Interested Bidder or Representative of the Interested Bidder other than in connection with an evaluation of the Transaction.

The Interested Bidder recognises and acknowledges the competitive value and confidential nature of the Confidential Information and the possible resultant impact to the Company and the Government if the Confidential Information is disclosed or allowed to be disclosed to an unauthorised party or used for any purpose other than evaluating the Transaction. The Interested Bidder acknowledges and agrees that it is imperative that all Confidential Information remains confidential.

The Interested Bidders, before disclosing any of the Confidential Information to any of its Representative(s) shall ensure that its Representative(s) have read and understood this Undertaking and have agreed in writing to be bound by the terms and conditions contained herein.

Notwithstanding any agreement or undertaking, the Interested Bidder agrees that it shall continue to be responsible and liable for any breach of this Undertaking even though the same is caused by any act or omission of any Representative of the Interested Bidder and shall indemnify and hold the Government, the Company, and the Advisors harmless (including provisions of clause 6 and 15 set forth herein) from any breach of this Undertaking or consequences and claims arising therefrom.

5. Except as permitted by Clause 4 herein and except as expressly permitted by a definitive share purchase agreement, if any, entered into by the Interested Bidder, the Receiving Party will not directly or indirectly disclose to any Person the fact that the Confidential Information has been made available to the Receiving Party or that the Receiving Party have inspected any portion of the Confidential Information. Except with the prior written consent of the Company and the Government, and except as expressly permitted by such definitive share purchase agreement, the Receiving Party will not directly or indirectly disclose to any Person the fact that any discussions

- or negotiations are taking place concerning the Transaction, including the status and content of such discussions or negotiations.
- 6. On acquiring the Confidential Information on the terms stated in this Undertaking or otherwise, the Receiving Party shall comply with all applicable law, and the Interested Bidder hereby jointly and severally indemnifies and agrees to hold the Advisors, the Government and the Company indemnified and harmless (without prejudice to Clause 15 set forth below) against all and any consequences arising from any violation by the Receiving Party of such applicable laws.
- 7. If the Receiving Party is requested or becomes legally compelled (by oral questions, summons, interrogatories, requests for information or documents, subpoena, civil or criminal investigative demand, or similar process) or is required by a Government Authority and/or regulatory body (including any self regulated organisation) to make any disclosure that is prohibited or otherwise constrained by this Undertaking or any similar undertaking or agreement, the Receiving Party will provide the Advisors, the Government and the Company with prompt written notice of such request so that the Advisors, the Government or the Company may seek an appropriate injunction, protective order or other appropriate remedy. Subject to the foregoing, the Receiving Party may furnish that portion (and only that portion) of the Confidential Information that, in the written opinion of the Interested Bidder's legal counsel (reasonably acceptable to the Advisors, the Government and the Company), the Receiving Party is legally compelled or is otherwise legally required to disclose or else stand liable for contempt or suffer other material censure or material penalty; provided, however, that the Receiving Party must use best efforts to obtain reliable assurance that confidential treatment will be accorded to any Confidential Information so disclosed.
- 8. The confidentiality obligations contained in this Undertaking may at the discretion of the Government, the Company and the Advisors, be amended, modified or superseded upon the Interested Bidder executing a definitive agreements, but shall be without prejudice to any of the Advisors', the Government's or the Company's rights in respect of any breach of this Undertaking which may have occurred prior to such amendment, modification or supersession.
 - The Interested Bidder agrees that the Government reserves the right, in its sole discretion to modify the process of the Transaction in any part and/or to vary any terms at any time without prior notice to the Interested Bidder and/or to reject any or all proposals made by the Interested Bidder with regard to the Transaction. The Government may elect at any time to terminate further access by the Receiving Party to any Confidential Information required by the Interested Bidder in connection with its evaluation of the Transaction.
- 9. The Government and/or the Company may elect at any time to terminate further access by the Receiving Party to any Confidential Information in connection with its evaluation of the Transaction. After any such termination by the Government and/or the Company, or after the decision of the Interested Bidder to not proceed with the Transaction as specified in Clause 8 above, (i) the Interested Bidder (a) will promptly deliver to the concerned Disclosing Party, all Confidential Information including all documents or other materials furnished by such Disclosing Party to the Receiving Party, together with all copies and summaries thereof in the possession or under the control of the Receiving Party, and (b) will destroy materials generated by the Receiving Party that include or refer to any part of the Confidential Information, without

retaining a copy of any such material or (ii) alternatively, if the Advisors, the Government or the Company request or give prior written consent to the Interested Bidder's request, the Interested Bidder will destroy or cause to be destroyed all Confidential Information in the possession or under the control of the Receiving Party. Any such destruction pursuant to the foregoing must be confirmed by the Interested Bidder in writing to each of the Advisors, the Government and the Company (such confirmation must include a list of the destroyed materials). The Interested Bidder acknowledges that the return of the Confidential Information and the return or destruction of the Confidential Information pursuant to termination or otherwise shall not release the Receiving Party from its obligations under this Undertaking.

- 10. The Receiving Party shall not deal or communicate (except in the ordinary course of its business) with any officer, director or employee of the Government or the Company regarding the business, operations, prospects or finances of the Company, without the Advisors' prior written consent, unless otherwise agreed to in an executed shareholders' agreement entered into in connection with the purchase by the Interested Bidder. It is understood that the Advisors will arrange for appropriate contacts for due diligence purposes in connection with the Transaction. Unless otherwise agreed to by the Advisors in writing (i) all communications regarding any possible transaction, (ii) any requests for additional information, (iii) any requests for management meetings, and (iv) any queries regarding the Transaction, will be directed exclusively to the Advisors. However, if the Receiving Party is called upon by the Government and/or the Company for any discussions, the Receiving Party will do so or meet the Government and/or the Company only after duly informing the Advisors in writing.
- 11. The Government reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to reject any and all proposals made by the Receiving Party with regard to the Transaction and to terminate discussions and negotiations with the Receiving Party at any time. Without limiting the preceding sentence, nothing in this Undertaking (i) requires either the Interested Bidder or the Government to enter into the Transaction or to negotiate such Transaction for any specified period of time or (ii) requires the Advisors, the Government or the Company to enter into an agreement or an understanding, or prohibits the Advisors, the Government or the Company from entering into any agreement or understanding, for proceeding with the Transaction with any other Person.
- 12. The Receiving Party agrees that from the date of this Undertaking till the completion of the Transaction or as the case may be, till the time the Interested Bidder decide not to proceed with the Transaction, whether pursuant to Clauses 8 or 9 or 11, whichever is earlier, the Receiving Party shall not, directly or indirectly, buy, sell, negotiate, or enter into any arrangements for the purchase and / or sale of any of the shares of the Company, or advise any other person directly or indirectly to buy, sell, negotiate or enter into any arrangements for purchase and / or sell any of the shares of the Company, or take any action or make any statement or announcement that may affect the price of the shares of the Company.
- 13. The Interested Bidder understands, acknowledges and agrees that the Government, the Advisors and the Company retain the right to determine, in their sole discretion, the information that they wish to make available to the Receiving Party and the personnel through whom the same will be made available. Further, nothing in this Undertaking shall amount to or be construed as the Disclosing Party making any representations or warranties, express or implied, as to the accuracy

and/or completeness of the Confidential Information and the Disclosing Party shall have no liability whatsoever to the Receiving Party resulting from the Interested Bidder's use of the Confidential Information. The Interested Bidder also agrees that if it determines to proceed with the Transaction, its determination will be solely based on the terms of the definitive agreements as well as on its own investigation, analysis and assessment of its investment. Moreover, unless and until such agreements are entered into, neither the Government nor the Interested Bidder will be under any legal obligation of any kind with respect to the Transaction except for the matters specifically agreed to in this Undertaking or in another written and duly executed definitive agreement.

- 14. The Interested Bidder hereby indemnifies and agrees to hold the Advisors, the Government and the Company indemnified and harmless from all and any damages, losses, costs, or liabilities (including legal fees and the cost of enforcing this indemnity) arising out of or resulting from any unauthorized use or disclosure by any Receiving Party of the Confidential Information or other violation of this Undertaking (notwithstanding that a Receiving Party may not be party to this Undertaking) or of any similar undertaking or agreement. In addition, because an award of money damages (whether pursuant to the foregoing sentence or otherwise) would be inadequate for any breach of this Undertaking or any similar undertaking or agreement by the Receiving Party and any such breach would cause the Disclosing Party irreparable harm, the Interested Bidder also agrees that, in the event of any breach or threatened breach of this Undertaking or such similar undertaking or agreement, the Advisors, the Government or the Company will also be entitled, without the requirement of posting a bond or other security, to equitable relief, including injunctive relief and specific performance. Such remedies will not be the exclusive remedies for any breach of this Undertaking but will be in addition to all other remedies available at law or equity to the Advisors, the Government and/or the Company.
- 15. The Interested Bidder understands, acknowledges, confirms and agrees that each of the Government, the Company and the Advisors are beneficiaries under this Undertaking. The Interested Bidder further agrees and confirms that each of the Government, the Company and the Advisors, will be entitled to and may enforce, either individually or jointly, the obligations imposed on the Receiving Party under this Undertaking.
- 16. The Interested Bidder agrees that no failure or delay by the Advisors/the Government / the Company in exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder will operate as a waiver thereof nor will any single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any right, power or privilege hereto.
- 17. The terms of this Undertaking may be varied only with the Company's and the Government's prior written agreement. This Undertaking shall be effective as of the date first above given on the first page of this Undertaking.
- 18. This Undertaking shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the substantive laws of India without giving effect to its conflict of law principles.

19. All notices required or permitted to be given hereunder shall be in writing and shall be valid and sufficient if dispatched as follows in physical form at the mailing address of the recipient.

If the notice is to the Government:

[ullet]

With a copy to:

[ullet]

If the notice is to the Advisors

YES Bank Limited 48, Nyaya Marg, Chanakyapuri, New Delhi - 110 021 Kind attention: Karandeep Singh

With a copy to:

M/s. Crawford Bayley & Co. Advocates and solicitors State Bank Buildings, 4th Floor, N.G.N. Vaidya Marg, Fort, Mumbai – 400 023 Maharashtra, India Kind attention: Mr. Sanjay Asher

And a copy to:

M/s. Adroit Technical Services Private Limited 508, 5th Floor, Devika Tower, Chander Nagar, Ghaziabad Uttar Pradesh – 201 011 Kind attention: Mr. Puneet Tyagi

If the notice is to the Company:

 $[\bullet]$

with a copy to:

 $[\bullet]$

If the notice is to the Interested Bidder:

[ullet]

Any of the Interested Bidder, the Government, the Company or the Advisors may change its address by a notice given to the other in the manner set forth above. All notices and other communications shall be deemed to have been duly given (i) on the expiry of seven days after posting, if transmitted by registered airmail or (ii) on the date immediately after the date of transmission with confirmed answer back if transmitted by telex, cable or facsimile whichever shall first occur.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Undertaking has been executed by the duly authorized representative of the Interested Bidder on the date and year first hereinabove written.

Witnessed by:	(Name of Interested Bidder)
Name:	Ву:
Address:	
[x]	

Schedule 1 YES Bank Limited Adroit Technical Services Pvt Ltd M/s. Crawford Bayley & Co

Annexure IV

CPSE Declaration and Shareholding Certificate

We	hereby	declare	that	we	are	a	Central	Public	Sector	Enterprise	('CPSE')	named
and 1	recognise	d as a CPS	SE und	ler Sc	hedul	e	by the	Governm	ent of In	dia ('GoI').		
	also confi main a Cl		conti	nue to	rema	in a	CPSE as	on date aı	nd further	r undertake th	nat we shall o	continue
Belo	w is the s	hareholdii	ng sum	nmary	of ou	ır co	ompany as	of 31st M	Iarch 201	7.		
All f	igures are	e to be rou	nded t	o 2.00) deci	mal	places					

Shareholder	Number of Equity Shares Held	% shareholding
The President of India		
Board of Directors		
Others		
Total		

Authorised Signatory: Date:

Company Secretary

Δ	n	n	e	V I	1	r	e	\mathbf{v}
$\boldsymbol{\Gamma}$			•	ъ.	•		·	•

Date:

CPSE Declaration of Net Worth

We hereby declar	are that our Net Worth	as of 31st March 2017# stood at	Rs crores ((rounded to 2.00
decimal places)	as per the methodology	y prescribed below for the subr	nission of EOI.	

An independent chartered accountant signing this net worth certificate has duly verified the relevant details required in the table below.

All figures are to be filled in Rs. Crores (rounded to 2.00 decimal places)

Particulars	Unit
Number of paid up equity shares (A)	
Face value of each share (B)	
Total paid up capital $(C = A*B)$	
Aggregate value of reserves created out of the profits and securities premium account (D)	
Aggregate value of the accumulated losses, deferred expenditure and miscellaneous expenditure not written off (E)	
Aggregate value of reserves created out of revaluation of assets, write-back of depreciation and amalgamation (F)	
Net worth $(G = C + D - E - F)$	

Authorised Signatory:

and

Statutory Auditor: (With Registration Number)

#If the Interested Bidder does not have audited financial statements as on March 31, 2017, Net Worth as per provisional financial account for the Interested Bidder as certified by its statutory auditor/Board of Director may be considered.

Annexure VI

CPSE Declaration of Profitability

We hereby declare that our company has reported positive PAT in at least 3 of the preceding 5 audited financial statements on consolidated basis.

Please find below the PAT reported for last 5 audited statements.

All figures are to be filled in Rs. Crores (rounded to 2.00 decimal places)

Fiscal Years	Net Profit
2013	
2014	
2015	
2016	
2017#	

Authorised Signatory:	Date:
or	
Statutory Auditor:	
(With Registration Number)	

#If the Interested Bidder does not have audited financial statements as on March 31, 2017, PAT as per provisional financial account for the Interested Bidder as certified by its statutory auditor/Board of Director may be considered.

Annexure VII

Power of Attorney

Power of Attorney for signing of EoI

То	all	to	whom	these	presents	shall	come,	
havin	g	C	our	regis	tered	offi	ce	the entity) at
the re	egistered offi authorize	ce) do hei Mr./M			onally and irrevo			r/wife of
and la execu conne disinv (India provi Advis qualit	awful attornate, and perfection with overtiment of a) Limited inding information/Company	ey (herein orm all su or incident shares he acluding b ation/ resp y in all m he Transac	after referred to the acts, agreed to submission and to submission to the Government of the acts of th	o as the "Att ments, deeds on of our ap- ernment of I to signing an Iransaction A ection with	sition of corney") to do in , matters and thin plication for qual ndia in Hospital ad submission of a Advisor and gene or relating to or	our name a ngs as are r ification fo Services C all applicationally dealin arising out	nd on our benecessary or the proposonsultancy ons, forms ag with Gol/to of our app	ehalf, to do, required in sed strategic Corporation and EoI and Transaction blication for
or car Attor shall	used to be do ney and that and shall alv	one by the all acts, do ways be d	Attorney purseds and things eemed to have	suant to and it is done by the been done b	eby ratify and con n exercise of the Attorney in exer- oy us concerning rformed or execu-	powers corcise of the portouching	nferred by the powers hereby these prese	nis Power of by conferred
All th	e terms used	l herein bu	ıt defined shal	I have the me	eaning ascribed to	such terms	s in the EoI.	
	WITNESS CIPAL HA			POWER OF .	ATTORNEY ON			E NAMED
In the 1. 2. Acceptage Name	e presence of pted	Address of	on and address the Attorney)	(3)				

Note: The mode of execution of the Power of Attorney should be in accordance with the procedure, if any, laid down by the applicable law and the charter documents of the executant(s) and when it is so required, the same should be under common seal affixed in accordance with the required procedure. The power of attorney shall be appropriately stamped and notarized. § Wherever required, the Interested Bidder should submit for verification the extract of the charter documents and documents such as a board or shareholders' resolution/power of attorney in favour of the person executing this Power of Attorney for the delegation of power hereunder on behalf of the Interested Bidder.

Annexure VIII

Statement of Legal Capacity of Sole Interested Bidder

[On the letterhead of the Interested Bidder submitting the Statement of Legal Capacity] Reference No.: Date: To, Mr. Karandeep Singh, **YES Bank** 48, Nyaya Marg, Chanakyapuri, New Delhi - 110 021 Sub.: Invitation of expression of interest for strategic disinvestment of 100 % of shareholding of GoI in Hospital Services Consultancy Corporation (India) Limited ("HSCC"). Sir/Madam, This is with reference to the advertisement dated 11 October 2017 ("Advertisement") inviting Expression of Interest ("EoI") for strategic disinvestment of such number of shares representing hundred (100%) of the equity share capital of HSCC, a company registered under the Companies Act, 1956 having its registered office at Class 205 (2nd Floor, East End Plaza, Plot no. 4, DDA, LSC-Centre-II, Vasundhara Enclave, Delhi-10096 ("Strategic Disinvestment"). Being duly authorized to represent and act on behalf of ______ (hereinafter referred to as the "Interested Bidder"), and having reviewed and fully understood all of the qualification requirements and information provided, the undersigned hereby expresses the Interested Bidder's interest for bidding for the Strategic Disinvestment.

We have read and understood the contents of the Advertisement and the Preliminary Information Memorandum dated 11 October 2017 ("PIM") and are desirous of participating in the Strategic Disinvestment and confirm and undertake as follows:

1.	We are interested in bidding for the Strategic Sale of such number of shares representing hundred (100%) of the equity share capital of HSCC.
2.	We have examined in detail and have understood the terms and conditions and eligibility criteria stipulated in the Advertisement and the PIM and we satisfy the eligibility criteria stipulated in the Advertisement and the PIM.
3.	We satisfy the eligibility criteria detailed in the Advertisement and the PIM.
4.	We have agreed that [] (insert name and designation of individual) will act as our representative and has been duly authorised to submit the EoI ("Representative").
5.	The Representative is vested with the requisite power and authority to furnish this letter and Request for Qualification along with all the documents to be submitted pursuant to the EoI and authenticate the same.
Our PA	AN number is
Our TA	AN number is
Thank	you.
Yours	sincerely,
For and	d on behalf of: (name of the Interested Bidder)
Signatu	ure: (Authorised Representative and Signatory)
Name of	of the Person: []
Design	ation: []

Annexure IX

REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATION

Fo	rm A - Reference No.:
Da	te:
Na	me of the Interested Bidder:
1)	Constitution (Tick, wherever applicable) a) Public Limited Company; b) Private Limited Company; c) Partnership Firm; d) Trust; or e) Others, if any (Please specify).
2)	Memorandum and Articles of Association or other Constitution Documents of the Interested Bidder.
3)	A certificate duly signed by our Company Secretary/ any other officer in charge of legal affairs, stating that we are eligible to participate in the proposed Strategic Disinvestment in terms of Clause of our Memorandum and Articles and Association (or any other Constitution Document).
4)	Basis of eligibility for participation in the process (please mention basis and attach supporting documents):
	a) attach audited financials (including profit and loss statement, balance sheet and cash flow statement) and the annual report of the last three financial years;b) attach certificate from a chartered accountant/ statutory auditor certifying the net worth as defined in the eligibility criteria.
5)	Details of Shareholding Pattern.
6)	Provided that, in the event the Interested Bidder has been incorporated in the last 2 years, subject to compliance with all applicable laws, do not have audited financial statements as on [March 31, 2017], a provisional balance sheet and profit and loss account for the Interested Bidder as certified by its Board of Directors/ any other governing body should be submitted.

7) Nature of business carried out by the Interested Bidder and a profile containing information on the Interested Bidder's operations. The profile should contain such details as business history and growth,

business areas and activities, capability of the company as demonstrated, inter alia, in its past track record to run its own business.

- 8) List of IBs board of directors and senior management along with the organization structure certified by the company secretary of the IB.
- 9) Summary of the roles and responsibilities of the directors and key management personnel of the IB certified by the company secretary of the IB.
- 10) Brief write up of the IB's of their international operations, joint ventures / alliances (whether international or domestic), nature and size of such operations, equity ownership, if applicable, copies of the audited accounts for the last one year of such companies.
- 11) The names and addresses of those companies and the professional firms, if any, who are (or will be) advising the IB, together with the names of the principal individual advisors at those companies and firms.
- 12) Date and Place of incorporation.
- 13) Date of Commencement of Certificate.
- 14) Full address including Phone No. / Fax No / Email address.
 - a) Registered Office; and
 - b) Head Office.
- 15) Address for correspondence.
- 16) Details of all outstanding litigations.
- 17) Please provide details of all contingent liabilities that, if materialised, that have or would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the business, operations (or results of operations), assets, liabilities and/or financial condition of the Interested Bidder, or other similar business combination or sale.
- 18) Contact Person(s):
 - a) Name:
 - b) Designation
 - c) Phone No.:
 - d) Mobile No.:
 - e) Fax No.:
 - f) Email.:

Thank you.

Yours sincerely,

For and on behalf of: (name of the Interested Bidder)		
Signature: (Authorised Representative and Signatory)		
Name of the Person: []
Decignation: [1	

Note: Please follow the order adopted in the format provided. If the Interested Bidder is unable to respond to a particular question/request, the relevant number must nonetheless be set out with the words 'No response' against it.

Annexure X

DECLARATION

1. We solemnly declare that we or our Director(s), CEO or principal officers are not convicted by any court of law or are indicted or have received any adverse order from regulatory authority relating to a grave offence with regard to matters other than the security and integrity of the country.

Grave offence for this purpose shall include

- 20. What constitutes "Fraud" under the provisions of the SEBI Act, 1992 and any of the regulations, rules, circulars, notifications, etc. made thereunder.
- 21. SEBI orders on the IB casting doubt on the ability of the IB to hold the stake in the Company.
- 22. Any conviction by a court of law.
- 23. In case of SEBI's order of prosecution, disqualification will arise only on conviction by court of law.
- 2. We further declare that we or our sister companies have not been issued a chargesheet by any Governmental Authority or convicted by a court of law for any offence with regard to matters relating to the security and integrity of the country.
- 3. We further declare that we, our sister company, our Director(s), CEO, principal officers are not under any investigation pending before any regulatory authority or other authority.
- 4. We declare that complete information as required is provided in the EOI and RFQ and/or Statement of Legal Capacity.

(Interested Bidder's name) (Interested Bidder's Address)

In case any IB is unable to give above undertaking in view of any conviction, indictment, order or investigation as above full details of the same shall be provided including names of persons involved, designation, charge/offence, ordering/investigating agency, status/outcome etc. with supporting/relevant documents. Any entity, which is disqualified from participating in the Transaction, shall not be allowed to remain associated with it or get associated merely because it has preferred an appeal against the order based on which it has been disqualified. The mere pendency of appeal will have no effect on the disqualification.

Annexure XI

Department of Investment and Public Asset Management (DIPAM) Guidelines

No. 6/4/2001-DD-II Government of India Ministry of Disinvestment Block 14, CGO Complex New Delhi.

Dated: 13th July, 2001

OFFICE MEMORANDUM

Sub: Guidelines for qualification of Bidders seeking to acquire stakes in Public Sector Enterprises through the process of disinvestment

Government has examined the issue of framing comprehensive and transparent guidelines defining the criteria for bidders interested in PSE-disinvestment so that the parties selected through competitive bidding could inspire public confidence. Earlier, criteria like net worth, experience etc. used to be prescribed. Based on experience and in consultation with concerned departments, Government has decided to prescribe the following additional criteria for the qualification / disqualification of the parties seeking to acquire stakes in public sector enterprises through disinvestment:

- a) In regard to matters other than the security and integrity of the country, any conviction by a Court of Law or indictment / adverse order by a regulatory authority that casts a doubt on the ability of the bidder to manage the public sector unit when it is disinvested, or which relates to a grave offence would constitute disqualification. Grave offence is defined to be of such a nature that it outrages the moral sense of the community. The decision in regard to the nature of the offence would be taken on case to case basis after considering the facts of the case and relevant legal principles, by the Government.
- b) In regard to matters relating to the security and integrity of the country, any charge-sheet by an agency of the Government / conviction by a Court of Law for an offence committed by the bidding party or by any sister concern of the bidding party would result in disqualification. The decision in regard to the relationship between the sister concerns would be taken, based on the relevant facts and after examining whether the two concerns are substantially controlled by the same person/persons.
- c) In both (a) and (b), disqualification shall continue for a period that Government deems appropriate.
- d) Any entity, which is disqualified from participating in the disinvestment process, would not be allowed to remain associated with it or get associated merely because it has preferred an appeal against the order based on which it has been disqualified. The mere pendency of appeal will have no effect on the disqualification.
- e) The disqualification criteria would come into effect immediately and would apply to all bidders for various disinvestment transactions, which have not been completed as yet.

- f) Before disqualifying a concern, a Show Cause Notice why it should not be disqualified would be issued to it and it would be given an opportunity to explain its position.
- g) Henceforth, these criteria will be prescribed in the advertisements seeking Expression of Interest (EoI) from the interested parties. The interested parties would be required to provide the information on the above criteria, along with their Expressions of Interest (EoI). The bidders shall be required to provide with their EoI an undertaking to the effect that no investigation by a regulatory authority is pending against them. In case any investigation is pending against the concern or its sister concern or against its CEO or any of its Directors/Managers/employees, full details of such investigation including the name of the investigating agency, the charge/offence for which the investigation has been launched, name and designation of persons against whom the investigation has been launched and other relevant information should be disclosed, to the satisfaction of the Government. For other criteria also, a similar undertaking shall be obtained along with EoI.

-sd/-

(A.K. Tewari)

Under Secretary to the Government of India

Note: Vide clarification dated: 10.1.2002 to the above guidelines it has been provided that the

following offence be treated as a grave offence:

- a) Orders of Securities and Exchange Board of India which directly relates to "fraud" as defined in the Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992 and/or regulations made thereunder;
- b) Orders of Securities and Exchange Board of India which cast a doubt on the ability of the IB to manage the Company after the sale of the shares under the Transaction;
- c) Any conviction by a Court of Law;
- d) In cases in which Securities and Exchange Board of India also passes a prosecution order, disqualification of the IB should arise only on conviction by the court of law.

Glossary

PIM Preliminary Information Memorandum

YES Bank YES Bank Limited

Transaction Advisor YES Bank Limited

HSCC (India) Limited

Company HSCC (India) Limited

DIPAM Department of Investment & Public Asset Management

MoHFW Ministry of Health & Family Welfare

Transaction Proposed Strategic Disinvestment of HSCC by DIPAM

IB Interested Bidders

RFP Request for Proposal

RFQ Request for Qualification

CIM Confidential Information Memorandum

CPSE Central Public Sector Enterprise

EoI Expression of Interest

GoI Government of India

Due Date The last day for Submission of EoI

Eligibility Guidelines Eligibility Guidelines issued by GoI for disqualification of bidders seeking

to acquire any public sector enterprises

CEO Chief Executive Officer

IBEF India Brand Equity Foundation

AYUSH Ayurveda, Yoga and Naturopathy, Unani, Siddha and Homoeopathy

PMC Project Management Consultant

EPC Engineering, Procurement and Construction

PMAY Pradhan Mantri Awas Yojana

Strategic disinvestment of such number of Equity Shares representing 100% stake in HSCC Strategic Disinvestment

SEBI Securities and Exchange Board of India

RBI Reserve Bank of India

Health Management Information System **HMIS**